Filed 03-11-2024

FILED 03-11-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP002414 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CORDERO D. COLEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Decision and Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable John D. Hyland, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEO DRAWS

Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1131806

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-2123 drawsl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Cordero D. Coleman

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Nearly three years elapsed between the charge against Cordero Coleman and the resolution of the case via a jury trial. Did this protracted delay deprive Mr. Coleman of his constitutional right to a speedy trial?

The circuit court said no. This Court should reverse the circuit court's order denying Mr. Coleman's postconviction motion, vacate the judgment of conviction, and dismiss this case with prejudice.

2. Trial counsel failed to assert Mr. Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial and did not advise Mr. Coleman of that right. The sole remedy for such a violation of Mr. Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial is dismissal with prejudice, but trial counsel failed to take any action enforcing that right. Did this render trial counsel ineffective?

The circuit court said no. If this Court finds that Mr. Coleman's first claim would otherwise fail for want of a speedy trial demand, this Court should find that the lack of such a demand was the result of ineffective assistance of counsel. This Court should then reverse the circuit court's order denying Mr. Coleman's postconviction motion, vacate the judgment of conviction, and dismiss this case with prejudice.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is requested. No published case or statute addresses an individual's constitutional right to a speedy trial in the context of jury trial delays during Covid shutdowns. Resolution of this issue could be dispositive of the constitutional question presented in this case. Oral argument is not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case revolves around the time that passed between the state's filing of the complaint against Mr. Coleman and the jury trial. Given the lengthy delays between these events, it is necessary to parse each event that caused delay and the party responsible for those delays. In order to more effectively detail those events and delays, this brief presents a detailed history of the case in a timeline rather than in a narrative form.

First, the overview of the case is as follows.

On June 14, 2019, the state charged Mr. Coleman with repeated sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(b). (1:1). The complaint alleged that on or between January 1, 2019 and June 1, 2019, Mr. Coleman committed at least three assaults of MAJ. (1:1).

On June 25, 2019, Attorney Jason Gonzalez was appointed to represent Mr. Coleman. (9). Attorney Gonzalez would represent Mr. Coleman throughout the case.

While Mr. Coleman posted bond shortly after being charged, the first nine months of proceedings saw jury trial dates scheduled and then rescheduled from January 6-8, 2020 until April 13-15, 2020. (17; 30; 38). This initial delay pushed the case into the unprecedented era of Covid delays and the temporary suspension of jury trials. (173; 174).

From July 23, 2019 until March 8, 2021, not a single substantive hearing took place in the case. (134; 139). On March 8, 2021, the circuit court conducted a brief hearing at which it determined that Mr. Coleman no longer needed to participate in pretrial GPS services in light of his compliance with bond conditions over the long period of time. (139:12).

For almost an entire year after that hearing, there was not a single on-the-record hearing in Mr. Coleman's case. (139; 136). Nearly three years after charges were filed, the case proceeded to a jury trial, from February 7-9, 2022. (136; 137; 138).

At trial, MAJ's father testified that during the timeline of the allegations, he and MAJ lived in his brother's one-bedroom apartment and that this was the same complex where Mr. Coleman and his brother lived in a one-bedroom apartment with their mother Brenda Tompkins. (137:98-99; 138:77). MAJ testified that the incidents took place in either of these two apartments. (137:222-230). The remainder of the state's evidence consisted of MAJ's friends or family

members and law enforcement who testified that MAJ had reported the incidents around the time of the charges. A pediatric sexual assault report showed no abnormalities. (70).

Regarding the repeated nature of the allegations, the criminal complaint listed four allegations with two occurring at Ms. Tompkins' apartment and two at MAJ's father's brother's apartment. (1:5). The state seemed unclear when trying to summarize how many incidents happened and where they took place, stating that one occurred at each apartment and then vaguely mentioning two other incidents without giving a theory as to where they happened. (138:305-307).

In the middle of that jury trial, the parties argued about Ms. Tompkins and her unavailability to testify. (136:110-111; 138:168-171). Ms. Tompkins passed away on September 22, 2021, about five months before the trial. (138:253). Through the testimony of Mr. Coleman's brother and Mr. Coleman himself, defense witnesses testified that Ms. Tompkins was in very poor health during the timeline of alleged events, as she was nearly bedridden and would only leave her apartment very occasionally for dialysis treatments. (138:196-197, 264).

Of note, the record indicates that Ms. Tompkins would have said that she was present virtually all of the time that either Mr. Coleman or his brother were present in the apartment and did not witness any of the alleged incidents. (136:84-85, 110-111). In

9

discussions with law enforcement, Ms. Tompkins stated that she could not believe the allegations and immediately asked where they occurred. (177:3). Ms. Tompkins was in disbelief that some of the events could have taken place in her apartment because she was always present with MAJ and in the same room with her when MAJ was at her apartment. (177:3). Upon further suggestions from law enforcement that "sometimes things happen in a split moment[,]" law enforcement noted that "Brenda advised me she wanted to make clear that she is always there whenever [MAJ] is there and does not believe she would have fallen asleep [if MAJ] was in her care." (177:3).

After the state had already rested its case, Attorney Gonzalez complained that the court system in Dane County stayed shut down longer than that of other counties and that the delays had violated Mr. Coleman's speedy trial rights, with the resulting prejudice rendering Ms. Tompkins unavailable. (138:157, 169-170). Attorney Gonzalez further stated that he did not file a speedy trial demand or any motion related to speedy trial rights even though Mr. Coleman's right to a speedy trial was violated. (138:170). The state responded by stating that defense counsel did not object to any of the requested adjournments throughout the course of the proceedings. (138:182). Ultimately, the circuit court did not allow the defense to present any testimony about what Ms. Tompkins would have stated. (138:176-177).

The jury found Mr. Coleman guilty, and the circuit court sentenced him to 32 years, consisting of a 25-year period of confinement and a 7-year term of extended supervision. (138:364; 128:17; 122:1).

In postconviction proceedings, Mr. Coleman asked the court to reverse his conviction and have the case dismissed with prejudice. (153). In particular, Mr. Coleman argued that his constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated by the three-year delay between charging and the jury trial. (153:3-11). Alternatively, Mr. Coleman argued for the same relief in light of the ineffective assistance of trial counsel in failing to assert the right. (153:11-13). During postconviction litigation, Attorney Gonzalez made it clear that he had never contemplated or discussed raising a claim regarding the violation of Mr. Coleman's constitutional speedy trial rights. (166:33). Mr. Coleman also stated that he wanted to go to trial as soon as possible and that had Attorney Gonzalez discussed that right with him, Mr. Coleman would have wanted to pursue it. (166:36-37).

Following a *Machner* hearing¹ and a round of briefing, the circuit court denied Mr. Coleman's postconviction motion. (166; 172; 178; 179). Specifically, the circuit court held that Mr. Coleman was not deprived of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. (179:12). The circuit court also held that Attorney Gonzalez was not ineffective because it

¹ See State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

would have denied a motion for dismissal of the criminal action on speedy trial grounds had such a motion been filed. (179:14).

This appeal follows.

CASE TIMELINE

The following timeline is divided into three relevant segments: (1) pre-Covid delays during which charges were filed and trial was rescheduled; (2) Covid delays that shutdown or otherwise delayed jury trials across the state and Dane County; and (3) post-Covid delays following the "re-opening" of courthouses through the beginning of the jury trial.

While this timeline does not necessarily include everything that happened in this case, it errs on the side of overinclusion. The question as to whether the delay of nearly three years violated Mr. Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial is solved by scrutiny of this substantial post-accusation delay.

I. Pre-Covid Delays: June 14, 2019 through March 12, 2020

6/14/19 Criminal complaint filed. (1). Complaint offered a potential date range for the acts between January 1, 2019 and June 1, 2019. (1:1).

> Initial appearance. (7) Bond set at \$15,000 and parties did not stipulate to waiving the time limits for a preliminary hearing. (7).

6/20/19 Adjourned preliminary hearing. (133).

No attorney appeared with Mr. Coleman, and court set over the preliminary hearing. (133:2).

- 6/25/19 Attorney Jason Gonzalez is appointed to represent Mr. Coleman. (9).
- 6/28/19 Motion for reduction of bail. (12).
- 7/2/19 Adjourned preliminary hearing. (135). State asked for the matter to be set over due to witness unavailability. (135:2-3). Defense objected to the set over request. (135:3-4). Court found good cause to set over until July 11, 2019. (14:1; 135:4). Court reduced bond to \$2,000. (135:9).
- 7/8/19 Mr. Coleman posted bond. (17).

7/9/19	Preliminary hearing again rescheduled because proper notice was not effectuated,. (19); see App. 21.
7/23/19	Preliminary hearing and arraignment. (134). Court bound Mr. Coleman over for trial. (134:11). State filed information. (22).
9/30/19	Jury trial scheduled for January 6-8, 2020. (30); App. 18-19.
10/30/19	Status conference. Attorney Gonzalez asked for an additional status conference to speak with the assigned prosecutor and for the trial dates to remain on the calendar. App. 18.
12/13/19	State requested setting over trial dates, which court grants with no objection from defense. (36); App. 18.
1/2/20	Jury trial scheduled for April 13-15, 2020. (38).
1/28/20	Status conference. App. 17. Case remains on trial calendar.
3/6/20	Status conference. App. 17. Case remains on trial calendar.

II. Covid Delays: March 12, 2020 through June 1, 2021

3/12/20	Dane County Circuit Court
	suspended jury trials from March 16,
	2020 through April 17, 2020. (173:1,
	5).

3/16/20 Jury trial dates to be rescheduled due to Dane County pandemic precautions. App. 17.

3/22/20 Supreme Court of Wisconsin order suspending jury trials through at least May 22, 2020. (174:3).

- 5/29/20 Status conference. (42). Trial dates to be set.
- 7/30/20 Status conference. (46). Trial dates to be set.
- 10/8/20 Status conference. App. 16.
- 3/8/21Hearing in which court terminates
GPS bond conditions. (139:12).
- 5/21/21 Supreme Court of Wisconsin order giving circuit courts local control over Covid restrictions. (175).

Status conference. App. 15.

III. Post-Covid Delays: June 1, 2021 through February 7, 2022

6/1/21	Dane County Circuit Court order rescinding prior Covid jury trial operational policies. (176).
6/22/21	Jury trial scheduled for February 7-9, 2022. (53).
2/3/22	Jury status hearing. App. 14.
2/7/22	Jury trial begins. (136).

OVERVIEW OF ARGUMENT

Two years, seven months, and 25 days passed between the filing of charges against Mr. Coleman and the beginning of the jury trial. Due to a mix of delays caused by the state, the courts, and Covid, Mr. Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated as he lived under the cloud of a pending felony case this entire time and saw a key defense witness pass away just five months prior to the trial. This alone is enough for this Court to reverse the conviction and dismiss the case against Mr. Coleman.

Still, in the midst of this long delay, defense counsel Jason Gonzalez never asserted Mr. Coleman's right to a speedy trial. Attorney Gonzalez plainly stated that he had never given any consideration to raising the right, nor had he discussed it with Mr. Coleman. (166:33). Still, Attorney Gonzalez decided to argue the right to a speedy trial in the middle of the trial when the state had already rested its case. (138:157, 169-170). It made no sense for Attorney Gonzalez to raise this violation for the first time at this point after nearly three years of delays. There was no risk in seeking dismissal earlier—the worst-case scenario was the status quo, and the potential reward was a firm end to the prosecution against Mr. Coleman. Counsel's continuous inaction rendered him ineffective.

Speedy trial claims implicate interests far beyond the protections afforded to the accused: "While it is important from a defendant's point of view that he be tried promptly so that his future status is put to rest," the "paramount interest is society's concern that all criminal cases be disposed of speedily." See State v. Hadley, 66 Wis. 2d 350, 365, 225 N.W.2d 461 (1975). The societal interests that justify enforcement of speedy trial rights thus dovetail, at times, with those of defendants-even though dismissal with prejudice can be a tough pill for society to swallow. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court has put it, a "speedy trial is a constitutional right, guaranteed to the public as well as to a defendant, which the courts have the ultimate obligation to re-affirm whenever the necessity becomes apparent." Id. at 367. Such necessity is apparent here.

ARGUMENT

I. The lengthy post-accusation delay in this case deprived Mr. Coleman of his constitutional right to a speedy trial.

Mr. Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated when he awaited trial for nearly three years. Even if COVID delays are subtracted from that total, Mr. Coleman awaited trial for roughly 524 days in between the date he was charged on June 14, 2019, and the start of his jury trial on February 7, 2022. (1:1; 136). As a result of this delay, Mr. Coleman's defense was prejudiced when the jury never heard information that bore on a critical issue whether or not there was even an opportunity for this crime to happen.

A. Standard of review and applicable legal standards

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee defendants a speedy trial. See U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 7^2 . Whether a particular delay infringed on this guarantee turns on four factors: (1) the length of the delay, (2) the reasons for the delay, (3) whether the defendant asserted his speedy trial right, and (4) whether the delay was prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Urdahl, 2005 WI

² In addition to constitutional speedy trial rights, Wisconsin law contains a statutory right to a speedy trial. *See* Wis. Stat. § 971.10(4). To be clear, Mr. Coleman does not argue that his statutory right was violated.

App 191, ¶11, 286 Wis. 2d 476, 704 N.W.2d 324. None of these factors is always necessary or always enough; courts must "engage in a difficult and sensitive balancing process," giving the weight to each factor that the circumstances warrant. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 533 (1972). And while engaged in this process, they must be mindful that "a fundamental right of the accused" is at stake. *Id*.

This court will decide whether that right was violated here by accepting the circuit court's findings of fact unless they're clearly erroneous but reviewing de novo whether the facts establish a constitutional violation. See Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶10. The relevant facts are uncontested. Instead, the issue is whether the delay adds up to a failure to get Mr. Coleman to trial speedily as demanded by the Constitution.

B. Speedy trial factors

Three of the above factors point to a constitutional violation in this case, while the fourth and final factor will be further addressed in Mr. Coleman's second claim. Under the *Barker* test, this Court should find such a violation.

1. Length of the delay

The length of the delay serves two functions in the speedy trial analysis. It first dictates whether the court will engage in the balancing test at all—a trial is speedy if it follows only trivial delays, so a short postaccusation wait will not merit further inquiry. *See* State v. Borhegyi, 222 Wis. 2d 506, 510, 588 N.W.2d 89 (1998). If a delay is long enough to trigger a full review, though, it becomes one of the four factors in the balancing test, relevant mainly as a sign of prejudice. *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 652 (1992).

Both the state and federal supreme courts recognize that "a post-accusation delay approaching one year" is presumptively prejudicial, requiring a court to apply the balancing test. *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11; *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 652 n.1.

The period under review began with the filing of the criminal complaint and Mr. Coleman's arrest on June 14, 2019 and ended when the jury trial began on February 7, 2022. See Borhegyi, 222 Wis. 2d at 510-511; (1:1; 136). That is nearly three entire years of Mr. Coleman's life spent living in limbo. While jury trials were obviously delayed by the State of Wisconsin and Dane County during some of this time. Mr. Coleman's case was pending for about 524 days outside of those Covid delays (though Covid delays will be addressed below in the section concerning reasons for delays). Since Mr. Coleman's wait far exceeded a year by any measurement, this Court should consider the length of the delay as part of a broader analysis. *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11.

Beyond its threshold function, the length of the delay matters because it is bound up with prejudice: "the presumption that pretrial delay has prejudiced the accused intensifies over time." *Id.* at 652. Heeding this principle, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held

that post-accusation delays of 17 months and 18 months are excessive enough to deprive individuals of their constitutional speedy trial right. *See Borhegyi*, 222 Wis. 2d at 514-515; *State v. Hadley*, 66 Wis. 2d 350, 363, 368-369, 225 N.W.2d 461 (1975).

Mr. Coleman's wait of nearly three years or at least 524 non-Covid-delayed days is well above the presumptive one-year standard. This delay was not just presumptively prejudicial—it raises an intensified presumption of prejudice, weighing on the side of a constitutional violation. *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 652. This factor undoubtedly weighs in favor of a constitutional violation.

2. Reasons for the delay

The cause of the delay is intertwined with the length of the delay. During its assessment, the Court should separate delays "chargeable completely to the state" (the prosecution, clerk's office, and circuit court) from those that were not its doing. *State v. Ziegenhagen*, 73 Wis. 2d 656, 666-667, 245 N.W.2d 656 (1976). While whether the state is completely responsible for that delay is debatable in light of Covid delays, Mr. Coleman was not responsible for any of the delay.

The nearly-three years of pretrial proceedings can be broken down into three time periods: pre-Covid wait times from June 14, 2019 to March 12, 2020; Covid delays from March 12, 2020 to June 1, 2021; and post-Covid delays from June 1, 2021 to February 7, 2022.

Filed 03-11-2024

a. Pre-Covid delays

Mr. Coleman was charged on June 14, 2019. (1). The initial appearance took place the same day, and the parties did not stipulate to waiving the time limits for the preliminary hearing. (7).

The preliminary hearing was then set over multiple times. On June 20, 2019, the circuit court set over the preliminary hearing. (133:2). No attorney appeared with Mr. Coleman for this appearance, through no fault of Mr. Coleman. (133). Attorney Gonzalez would be appointed a few days later on June 25, 2019. (9). At a July 2, 2019 hearing, the state requested the preliminary hearing to again be set over due to the unavailability of a witness. (135:2-3). The court granted the request over a defense objection. (14:1; 135:3-4). On July 9, 2019, the preliminary hearing was again rescheduled, finally taking place on July 23, 2019, where the court bound Mr. Coleman over for trial. (19; 134:11). This final delay was caused by court overcrowding. (179:5).

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