Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024

FILED 06-12-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Page 1 of 46

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP2414-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CORDERO D. COLEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN D. HYLAND, PRESIDING

#### PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

HECTOR S. AL-HOMSI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1116348

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The totality of the circumstances shows that the postconviction court correctly concluded that Coleman's constitutional right to a speedy trial was not violated.
  - A. Courts use a balancing test to analyze constitutional speedy trial challenges, and justifiable delays that do not prejudice the defendant do not violate that right.

"Both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee an accused the right to a speedy trial." *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11; *State v. Provost*, 2020 WI App 21, ¶ 25, 392 Wis. 2d 262, 944 N.W.2d 23.

"The right to a speedy trial is not subject to bright-line determinations and must be considered based on the totality Case 2023AP002414 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 21 of 46

of circumstances that exist in the specific case." Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11. To determine whether a defendant's right to a speedy trial has been violated, courts use a balancing test.  $Barker\ v$ . Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972). The test "weighs the conduct of the prosecution and the defense and balances the right to bring the defendant to justice against the defendant's right to have that done speedily." Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 11.

Courts balance four primary factors, including: (1) whether the defendant asserted the right to a speedy trial; (2) the length of the delay; (3) the reason for the delay; and (4) prejudice to the defendant. *Id.* These are related factors that a court considers "together with such other circumstances as may be relevant." *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 533.

To evaluate a speedy-trial claim, the clock begins when the defendant formally becomes the accused, such as with the filing of a complaint. State v. Lemay, 155 Wis. 2d 202, 209, 216, 455 N.W.2d 233 (1990). "Until there is some delay which is presumptively prejudicial, there is no necessity for inquiry into the other factors." Barker, 407 U.S. at 530. When the length of the delay approaches a year, it is presumptively prejudicial. triggering a closer examination circumstances surrounding the claim. Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 12. If, under the totality of the circumstances, the defendant was denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial, "the unsatisfactorily severe remedy of dismissal" is required. Barker, 407 U.S. at 522.

### B. The length of the delay was presumptively prejudicial, but it was not extraordinary.

The first factor, the length of the delay, plays two roles. "First, it is a triggering mechanism used to determine whether the delay is presumptively prejudicial," i.e., whether this Court need apply the remaining *Barker* factors. *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 12. A post-accusation delay of one year is

generally considered presumptively prejudicial. *Id.* If the delay in the defendant's trial is presumptively prejudicial, then the length of the delay becomes one factor in the fourfactor balancing test. *Id.* This Court then "considers 'the extent to which the delay stretches beyond the bare minimum needed to trigger judicial examination of the claim." *Id.* (citation omitted). "[T]he presumption that pretrial delay has prejudiced the accused intensifies over time." *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 652 (1992). For example, an "extraordinary" delay—such as an eight and one-half year delay—weighs heavily against the government, while a shorter delay weighs less heavily. *See id.* at 657–58.

Here, the length of the delay between the filing of the complaint and the start of the trial was 969 days, which is 31 months, or two years and 7 months.<sup>3</sup> (R. 1:1; 136:1.) The delay was presumptively prejudicial and triggers the *Barker* test. Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 12.

The length of this delay should not weigh heavily against the State. While the 31-month delay was approximately 19 months longer than the presumptively prejudicial 12 months, it still was not on par with the "extraordinary" eight-plus-year delay in *Doggett*. *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 652. Moreover, courts have declined to find speedy trial violations in cases involving similar and even lengthier delays than the delays in this case. *See Barker*, 407 U.S. at 533, 536 (five-year delay); *Lemay*, 155 Wis. 2d at 204 (37-month delay); *Provost*, 392 Wis. 2d 262, ¶¶ 27, 51 (almost 35-month delay); *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶¶ 25, 37 (30-month delay, with 20 and one half months attributable to the State). Thus, the delay does not weigh as heavily against the

<sup>3</sup> Coleman repeatedly refers to the delay as "nearly three years" in his brief. (Coleman's Br. 6, 8, 12, 17–18, 21, 27, 33.) However, it is more accurate to describe it as two years and seven months.

government as would a lengthier delay. *See Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 657–58.

Moreover, as Coleman acknowledges, if the delays caused by the COVID-19 pandemic are removed from the ledger, the delay would be significantly lower. (Coleman's Br. 21.) Coleman opines these "non-Covid" delays amount to 524 days, which would be approximately 17 months. (Coleman's Br. 21.) And, as explained below, Coleman undercounts the delays attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic because it continued to disrupt regular court functions after trials resumed in several ways.

Though the State agrees the delay in this case was presumptively prejudicial and therefore requires the court to analyze the other factors in the *Barker* test, the length of the delay should not weigh heavily against the State. Regardless, as explained below, there were valid reasons the delays, and nearly none of them are attributable to the State.

### C. The delays are not attributable to the State, with the exception of one 11-day period.

A close review of the procedural history in this case demonstrates that, of the 31 months of delays in this case, only 11 are attributable to the State. Moreover, those 11 days are weighted less heavily because they were the result of congestion in the court's calendar. The remaining days are largely either valid delays not attributable to the State or delays intrinsic to the case. Moreover, the majority of the delays occurred during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic or as the court system was laboring under the significant backlog of cases caused by the pandemic. These COVID-19 delays totaled 697 days, or approximately 23 months.

The State follows Coleman's approach of splitting the time period in question into three parts: (1) the time period from the filing of the complaint until the suspension of jury trials, (2) the time period during which jury trials were

suspended in the Dane County Circuit Court due to COVID-19, and (3) the period after the resumption of jury trials that ends with Coleman's jury trial. However, unlike Coleman, it further divides the first time period into six segments.

1. Government-caused delays are assigned weight based on the reasons and motivations, and defendant-caused delays are not counted.

"When considering the reasons for the delay, courts first identify the reason for each particular portion of the delay and accord different treatment to each category of reasons." Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 26. Yet not all delays are weighted equally. Only "deliberate attempt[s] by the government to delay the trial in order to hamper the defense [are] weighted heavily against the State." Id. "[D]elays caused by the government's negligence or overcrowded courts . . . are weighted less heavily." Id.

Some delays carry no weight at all. "[I]f the delay is caused by something intrinsic to the case, such as witness unavailability, that time period is not counted." Id. Other valid reasons for delays include those "attributed to the ordinary demands of the judicial system." Norwood v. State, 74 Wis. 2d 343, 354, 246 N.W.2d 801 (1976); see also Scarbrough v. State, 76 Wis. 2d 87, 100–02, 250 N.W.2d 354 (1977) (holding that the "period of time necessarily required for the hearing and disposition of pretrial motions, whether made by prosecution or defense, [is] not to be considered as delays caused by either party"). Valid reasons for delay "should be understood as 'a factor in the government's favor, to be weighted in considering the length of the delay, the prejudice to the accused, and the accused's assertion of right." *United States v. Schreane*, 331 F.3d 548, 555 (6th Cir. 2003) (citation omitted).

Finally, "if the delay is caused by the defendant, it is not counted." Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 26. "[G]enerally, 'delays caused by defense counsel are properly attributed to the defendant." Provost, 392 Wis. 2d 262, ¶ 39.

2. The 272-day "pre-COVID" delay between June 14, 2019, to March 12, 2020, is not attributable to the State, with the exception of 11 days.

Coleman refers to the 272-day time period spanning from the filing of the complaint on June 14, 2019, to the issuance of the order continuing of all jury trials in Dane County on March 12, 2020, as the "pre-COVID delays." (Coleman's Br. 13–14.) He argues the delay during this time period is all attributable to either the prosecution or the circuit court. (Coleman's Br. 23.) He does not suggest whether delays should be weighted heavily these not. (Coleman's Br. 23.) Regardless, an examination of these delays demonstrates that only 11 days in this period can be attributed to the State. These 11 days were the result of an overcrowded court that caused the court to reschedule the July 11, 2019, preliminary hearing to July 23, 2019. As the circuit court found, this period is the only "pre-COVID" delay attributable to the State. (R. 179:5.) Because it was not deliberate, it is weighted less heavily.

a. The delay from the June 14, 2019, filing of the complaint to the setover of the June 20, 2019, preliminary hearing is not attributable to the State.

The time period between the June 14, 2019, filing of the complaint and the setover of the June 20, 2019, preliminary hearing spans 6 days.

At the June 14, 2019, initial appearance, Coleman waived his statutory right to a preliminary hearing within 10

Case 2023AP002414 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 26 of 46

days. (R. 148:7.) However, the court still scheduled a preliminary hearing only six days into the future. (R. 148:8.) This 6-day period was the time necessarily required for "the orderly administration of criminal justice." *Scarbrough*, 76 Wis. 2d at 101; *see also Norwood*, 74 Wis. 2d at 354. The State needed time to subpoena its witnesses, provide a prosecutor to handle the hearing, and to ensure it complied with victim notice requirements, and the court would have needed time to provide the necessary staff for an orderly preliminary hearing calendar. This delay is therefore not attributable to the State. *Id*.

Coleman does not explain why this period should be attributable to the State, but even if he is correct that he did not waive the preliminary hearing time limits, the first preliminary hearing date occurred within the 10-day time limit. (Coleman's Br. 22–23); Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2). To the extent he relies on *Ziegenhagen*, a case in which neglect by both the prosecutor and the clerk of courts caused the delay, that case in inapplicable because there was no negligence here. *See State v. Ziegenhagen*, 73 Wis. 2d 656, 666–67, 245 N.W.2d 656 (1976).

b. The delay stemming from the setover of the June 20, 2019, preliminary hearing date and the July 2, 2019, preliminary hearing date is not attributable to the State.

This time period consists of 12 days. On June 20, 2019, Coleman appeared for the preliminary hearing without an attorney alongside him. (R. 133:2.) Coleman told the court, "I was appointed a public defender two days ago" and indicated he wanted an attorney. (R. 133:2.) Attorney Gonzalez later explained at the *Machner* hearing that Coleman had in fact first hired him privately but then did not have sufficient funds, so Attorney Gonzalez was later appointed to represent

him.<sup>4</sup> (R. 166:9.) This would explain why Coleman thought he had an attorney but none appeared. The court set the matter over as, based on the information Coleman provided, it appeared he had been appointed an attorney and the attorney was not present. (R. 133:3.) Five days later, an order indicating the State Public Defender appointed Attorney Jason Gonzalez to represent Coleman was filed on June 25, 2019. (R. 9:1.)

The postconviction court correctly found this delay was not attributable to the State. (R. 179:5.) Coleman argues it was not his fault an attorney did not appear but does not explain why it was the State was responsible for no attorney appearing.<sup>5</sup> (Coleman's Br. 22.) Indeed, when the court noted no attorney was present to represent Coleman and asked him if he wanted an attorney, he responded he did. The postconviction court found this was a request for a continuance, which is a reasonable inference from Coleman's statement. (R. 133:2; 179:5.) Admittedly, however, Coleman never specifically requested a continuance, (R. 133:2), and the State does not dispute that the process of receiving an attorney through the Public Defender's office is not instantaneous, particularly where a defendant is initially not eligible for a public defender appointment and attempts to hire an attorney privately. Regardless of whether the 12-day delav isattributable to Coleman (or the

<sup>4</sup> Attorney Gonzalez's statement is corroborated by the fact that Coleman was not eligible for a public defender appointment at the time of the initial appearance. (R. 148:2.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Indeed, a recurring theme throughout Coleman's brief seems to be that, if a delay was not attributable to him, it was necessarily attributable to the State. As will be discussed, this binary view is incompatible with the realities of pre-trial proceedings, particularly when faultless delays occur due to unavoidable circumstances such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Case 2023AP002414 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 28 of 46

administration of justice), the delay is not attributable to the State.

c. The delay from the July 2, 2019, preliminary hearing date to the July 11, 2019, preliminary hearing is not attributable to the State.

This time period consists of 9 days. At the rescheduled July 2, 2019, preliminary hearing, the State requested a setover because its witness was unavailable. (R. 135:2-3.) Coleman objected, but the court made a good cause finding and rescheduled the preliminary hearing to July 23, 2019. (R. 135:3–4.) The postconviction court found the witness unavailability was intrinsic to the case and therefore did not attribute the delay to the State. (R. 179:5.) The postconviction court was correct. It is well-established that delay "caused by the case, something intrinsic to such as witness unavailability," "is not counted." Urdahl, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 26 (citing Ziegenhagen, 73 Wis. 2d at 668; Barker, 407 U.S. at 531, 534)). Moreover, Coleman provides no argument explaining why the delay was attributable to the State aside from stating that it requested a setover due to an unavailable witness. (Coleman's Br. 22–23.)

d. The delay from the rescheduled July 11, 2019, preliminary hearing date to the July 23, 2019, preliminary hearing is not attributable to the State.

This period spans 12 days. On July 9, 2019, the July 11, 2019, preliminary hearing was rescheduled to July 23, 2019. (A-App. 22.) The postconviction court, which was presided over by the same judge, Judge John D. Hyland, found stated that "the hearing was rescheduled because the date and time set by [another judge] was in conflict with this

Case 2023AP002414 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-12-2024 Page 29 of 46

Court's schedule." (R. 179:5.) It found that the delay was a result of "an overcrowded court." (R. 179:5.) The postconviction court attributed the 11-day delay to the State. (R. 179:5.) However, since the delay was not deliberate, it weighted it less heavily. (R. 179:5.) The postconviction court correctly analyzed this delay. It is well-established that "delays caused by the government's negligence or overcrowded courts" are counted, but they "are weighted less heavily." *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 26. Coleman does not argue that this delay should be weighted more heavily and agrees the delay was caused by court overcrowding. (Coleman's Br. 22–23.)

e. The period between the preliminary hearing on July 23, 2019, and the setover of the trial date on December 13, 2019, is not a delay attributable to the State.

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